THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge JUN 14 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-002317

Lloyd C. (Chad) Whitmire Respondent,

v.

Johnny C. (Carl) Hawkensen and
The Commons at Fort Mill, LLC, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

H. Freeman Belser (SC Bar No. 72403)
William C. Dillard, Jr. (SC Bar No. 78986)
Post Office Box 96
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 929-0096
Attorneys for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE OPERATING AGREEMENT DOES NOT INCLUDE AN ARBITRATION CLAUSE
- II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE ARBITRATION LANGUAGE IN THE OPERATING AGREEMENT DOES NOT COVER THE PARTIES' DISPUTE
- III. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE PARTIES' DISPUTE DOES NOT INVOLVE INTERSTATE COMMERCE AND THEREFORE TRIGGER APPLICATION OF THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT
- IV. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ASSERTING JURISDICTION OVER THE RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF A RECEIVER AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was commenced on August 19, 2016, with the Respondent's filing of a summons and complaint naming as defendants the Appellants herein, Johnny C. Hawkensen and The Commons at Fort Mill, LLC. (R. pp. 16, 17). In the Complaint, Respondent asserted nine separate causes of action, all based on his membership in and the operation of the appellant limited liability company.¹

Contemporaneously with the Summons and Complaint, Respondent filed a Motion to Appoint Receiver (R. p. 116) and a supporting Affidavit of Lloyd C. Whitmire. (R. p. 143). On September 6, 2016, Appellants filed a Motion to

¹ Specifically, Respondent asserted claims for (1) breach of duty of loyalty, (2) breach of duty of care, (3) breach of contract, (4) breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act, (5) gross negligence, (6) unfair trade practices, (7) declaratory judgment regarding percentage ownership interest, (8) reformation of organizational chart, and (9) dissociation.

Compel Arbitration (R. p. 120) and, attached as an exhibit, a copy of the limited liability company's Operating Agreement. On September 13, 2016, Appellants filed several affidavits in opposition to Respondent's motion for appointment of a receiver. (R. pp. 151, 154, 159, 161).

On September 15, 2016, the circuit court heard arguments on both pending motions and instructed counsel for Respondent to submit proposed orders. On September 30, 2016, the circuit court entered an order denying Respondent's motion for appointment of a receiver but requiring Appellants to produce certain financial records. (R. p. 1). On October 3, 2016, expressly reserving the right to pursue arbitration, Appellants filed their Answer and Counterclaims. (R. p. 18) On October 6, 2016, the circuit court entered a second order, this time denying Appellants' motion to compel arbitration. (R. p. 6).

Appellants subsequently moved for the circuit court to reconsider both rulings, with a motion to reconsider the order denying appointment of a receiver filed on October 11, 2016, (R. p. 136) and a motion to reconsider the order denying arbitration filed on October 14, 2016. (R. p. 139). Although the circuit court denied Respondent's request for a receivership, it also ordered ongoing production of financial statements and left open the possibility of future judicial reconsideration of the receivership issue. Accordingly, Appellants requested reconsideration of the rulings in the receivership order on the ground that, since the underlying dispute is subject to arbitration as argued by the Appellants, the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to order any such relief.

The Appellants' motions to reconsider the two prior orders came before

the circuit court for a hearing on October 31, 2016, and, on November 1, 2016, the circuit court entered a Form 4 order denying the motions. (R. p. 14). Appellants' Notice of Appeal was served on November 14, 2016, and then timely filed, commencing this appeal.

FACTS

This litigation is based on a dispute between Respondent Chad Whitmire and Appellant Carl Hawkensen over their relative membership interests in The Commons at Fort Mill, LLC ("the Company"), also an Appellant. Hawkensen and the Respondent maintained a business relationship for a number of years, involving a succession of entities and, at times, other investors not party to this matter. (R. p. 18, ¶ 6). In October 2014, Respondent and Hawkensen formed the Company, a manager-managed limited liability company. (R. p. 20, ¶ 23; R. pp. 149 – 50). The three members of the Company were Hawkensen, Respondent, and another entity called Blue Wave Management, Inc., of which Hawkensen and Respondent were the only two shareholders. (R. p. 123). Shortly after forming, the company took title to and assumed operation of a 144-unit apartment complex in Fort Mill. (R. p. 20, ¶ 24).

On October 28, 2014, Respondent and Hawkensen executed an operating agreement for the company. (R. p. 123). At the top of the first page of the Operating Agreement, it is stated that "THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS OPERATING AGREEMENT ARE SUBJECT TO BINDING ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. 15-48-10, ET SEQ." (R. p. 123). In December 2014, in connection with an \$11 million loan closing to finance the Company's

acquisition of the apartment complex, Respondent and Hawkensen signed an organizational chart. The organizational chart reflected Respondent's ownership interest in the Company at thirteen (13%) percent and Hawkensen's interest of at least eighty-six (86%) percent². (R. p. 21, ¶¶ 28, 32; R. p. 42, ¶ 131; R. pp. 151 – 52, ¶ 4; R. p. 187).

Many months later, a disagreement developed when Respondent asserted that he owned a greater percentage interest in the Company than indicated in the organizational chart. Respondent asserts that he and Hawkensen each own equal fifty (50%) percent interests. (R. p. 20, ¶¶ 26 - 27). Hawkensen, on the other hand, asserts that Respondent owns a minority interest of thirteen (13%) percent. (R. p. 42, ¶ 131). Under the governing terms of the Operating Agreement, the relative extent of Respondent's ownership in the Company is determinative of his distributional interest and of his power to influence management of the entity's business activities. (R. p. 125, Art. II, Sec. 8; R. p. 127, Art IV, Sec. 1).

In late July or early August 2016, Respondent dissociated from the Company, (R. p. 31, ¶ 94; R. p. 38, ¶ 94), and shortly thereafter initiated the civil action underlying this appeal.

ARGUMENT

"Arbitrability determinations are subject to *de novo* review." Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc., 398 S.C. 447, 453, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315 (2012) (quoting

² Respondent alleged that the organizational chart attributed 87% ownership to Hawkensen. (R. p. 31, ¶ 32). Hawkensen alleged that the organizational chart attributed 86% ownership to Hawkensen and 1% ownership to Blue Wave Management, Inc. (R. p. 42, ¶ 131).

Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 22, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2007). “Nevertheless, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings.” Id. However, “[t]he construction of a written instrument is, in the first instance, a question of law for the court.” Campbell v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 301 S.C. 448, 451, 392 S.E.2d 477, 479 (Ct. App. 1990). “Interpretation of an unambiguous agreement is for the court.” Pearson v. Church of God, 325 S.C. 45, 54, 478 S.E.2d 849, 853 (1996). Likewise, “[t]he issue of interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the Court.” Hopper v. Terry Hunt Const., 383 S.C. 310, 314, 680 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2009). On appeal, questions of law are subject to *de novo* review. State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014).

“[T]he party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” Wilson v. Willis, 416 S.C. 395, 408–09, 786 S.E.2d 571, 578 (Ct. App. 2016), reh'g denied (June 24, 2016).

I. The circuit court erred in holding that the operating agreement does not include an arbitration clause

The circuit court’s denial of Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration was based on its incorrect conclusion that the Operating Agreement language regarding binding arbitration was insufficient to create an agreement to arbitrate pursuant to the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (“SCUAA”). S.C. Code § 15-48-10, et seq. Specifically, the circuit court held in its order denying Appellants’ motion that, under Section 15-48-10, “[i]t is clear that an ‘agreement’ to arbitrate and a ‘notice’ of arbitration are separate and distinct requirements, both of which must exist before arbitration may be compelled [T]he mere

presence of a notice, without a specific agreement to arbitrate, is insufficient.” (R. p. 11). This conclusion misreads the parties’ contract and the applicable statute, and fails to account for relevant case law demonstrating the well-established public policy in favor of arbitration.

“The policy of the United States and South Carolina is to favor arbitration of disputes.” Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). “Courts should apply ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts in determining whether an agreement to arbitrate exists.” The Hous. Auth. of City of Columbia v. Cornerstone Hous., LLC, 356 S.C. 328, 335, 588 S.E.2d 617, 621 (Ct. App. 2003).

“The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties’ intentions as determined by the contract language.” Maybank v. BB&T Corp., 416 S.C. 541, 787 S.E.2d 498, 516 (2016), reh’g denied (July 13, 2016). “When the contract’s language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines its force and effect.” Id. “Whether enforcing an agreement to arbitrate or construing an arbitration clause, courts and arbitrators must give effect to the contractual rights and expectations of the parties. In this endeavor, as with any other contract, the parties’ intentions control.” Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. AnimalFeeds Int’l Corp., 559 U.S. 662, 682 (2010) (internal citations omitted).

a. The plain language of the operating agreement includes a broadly worded arbitration provision

In the case at hand, the agreement provided that “THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS OPERATING AGREEMENT ARE SUBJECT TO

BINDING ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. 15-48-10, ET SEQ.”

This language clearly constitutes “a provision in a written contract to submit to arbitration any controversy thereafter arising between the parties.” § 15-48-10(a). While contracts sometimes contain arbitration clauses of greater length and detail, nothing in the relevant statute or case law requires anything beyond a succinct expression of the parties’ intent to subject the agreement to dispute resolution by way of arbitration.

The Court of Appeals has explicitly recognized that a concise statement of intent to arbitrate is sufficient to create an agreement. In an opinion analyzing a construction dispute involving two successive contracts, the Court of Appeals held that

[B]oth contracts contained broadly worded arbitration agreements. The first contract stated, “**This contract is subject to arbitration under S.C.Code ANN 15-48-10, ET SEQ.**” The second contract stated, “**This contract is subject to binding arbitration under the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.**”

The Hous. Auth. at 337, 588 S.E.2d at 622 (emphasis added). The Court again emphasized that “[e]ach contract contained an arbitration provision that covered disputes arising between [the parties]”, Id. at 335-36, 588 S.E.2d at 621, and that “[r]eading the two contracts in this case together, it is evident the parties agreed that any dispute arising after the signing of the first contract was to be arbitrated.” Id. The concise language under consideration in Hous. Auth. is virtually identical to the language in the Operating Agreement in the case at hand.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals has held that a provision stating that disputes are “subject to” an arbitration statute providing procedural terms is

sufficient to constitute an agreement to arbitrate, even in the absence of specific terms as to “how an arbitrator is chosen; what discovery rules apply; how arbitration fees are allocated; and how arbitration is initiated.” York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc., 406 S.C. 67, 82, 749 S.E.2d 139, 146 (Ct. App. 2013) (applying Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C.A. § 1, et seq.) “[A] party who signed a contract is deemed to have read and understood ‘the effect’ of the contract . . . and the ordinary meaning of ‘subject to,’ [is] that all disputes within the scope of the provision must be arbitrated.” Id. at 81, 749 S.E.2d at 146. The SCUAA includes specific default provisions on a broad range of procedural issues. See, e.g., §§ 15-48-50, -80.

If, for example, the Operating Agreement contained nothing more than a notice stating that, “this agreement contains an arbitration provision,” or words to that affect, such a provision might arguably be interpreted as falling short of a binding agreement to arbitrate. However, this is clearly distinguishable from the actual provision at issue in this case, which provides that the agreement is in fact “SUBJECT TO BINDING ARBITRATION”. (R. p. 123).

Returning to the fundamental issue of the parties’ intent in executing the Operating Agreement, it is hard to imagine that the Respondent intended anything other than to submit disputes to arbitration when he signed an agreement stating at the top of the first page, in bold, underlined, all-capital font, that the agreement is subject to binding arbitration. This provision also satisfies the notice requirement in the SCUAA, which is intended precisely to ensure that parties are aware they are consenting to arbitration. The Respondent is legally

bound as though he had read the language of the Operating Agreement, York, supra, and the law requires that his intent be determined from the plain language of the agreement he not only signed, but initialed on the very page where the arbitration agreement appears. (R. p. 123).

b. Section 15-48-10 does not require that an arbitration provision be separate from the statutory arbitration notice

Furthermore, the circuit court's order declining to compel arbitration appears to rely on a conclusion that, because the SCUAA makes separate reference to both (1) "a provision in a written contract to submit to arbitration" and (2) a "[n]otice that a contract is subject to arbitration", § 15-48-10(a), a single provision cannot serve as both the agreement and the notice. The statute simply does not contain any such arbitrary technicality.

While contracts often do contain separate notice and "dispute resolution" provisions for practical reasons or formatting purposes, such as the parties' desire to include more detailed arbitration terms or to utilize a tidy cover page without any substantive provisions, that merely highlights the fact that contracting parties are likewise free to instead employ the efficiency of a one-line, front page arbitration provision and notice. Neither the SCUAA nor any recognized principle of statutory interpretation empowers the circuit court to retroactively make this drafting decision on the parties' behalf. See, e.g., MailSource, LLC v. M.A. Bailey & Assocs., 356 S.C. 363, 369, 588 S.E.2d 635, 639 (Ct. App. 2003) ("re-writ[ing] the parties' contract [is] a service the courts of South Carolina do not perform.").

The purpose of the notice requirement in § 15-48-10, as is self-evident from the language of the statute and the very existence of the requirement, is to ensure that parties are aware that important rights are affected by an arbitration clause which may be buried deep in the fine print. The technical requirement that arbitration notice be in capitalized, underlined language on the first page of the contract, far from arbitrary even though strictly enforced by the courts, serves to ensure that a party to a contract does not unknowingly waive the right to judicial dispute resolution.

The notice requirement also provides the courts with a bright-line rule for determination of the otherwise difficult question of whether a party should be able avoid application of an arbitration provision based on alleged lack of notice. Soil Remediation Co., 323 S.C. at 457, 476 S.E.2d at 151. On the other hand, the circuit court's ruling that a properly drafted notice cannot also function as an enforceable arbitration provision does nothing other than to judicially insert an arbitrary technicality, serving no purpose except frustration of the clearly stated intentions of the parties and the public policy in favor of arbitration.

II. The circuit court erred in holding that the arbitration language in the Operating Agreement does not cover the parties' dispute

The parties have unambiguously agreed to submit the types of disputes at issue in this litigation to arbitration. As set forth below, each of the Respondent's claims are based on and require specific reference to and application of the terms and conditions of the parties' Operating Agreement. The plain language of the contract demonstrates the parties' clear intention to subject disputes over the

operation of the LLC to arbitration. Each of the Plaintiff's claims is clearly based on allegations about the operation and management of the Company. In essence, each of the Respondent's causes of action is an attempt to enforce some provision of the Operating Agreement or to seek relief regarding issues that are specifically governed by it.

"The operating agreement is the essential contract that governs the affairs of a limited liability company." S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-103, *cmt.* The S.C. Supreme Court has recognized that courts may only discern parameters governing members' operation and management of an LLC by reference to the terms and conditions of the operating agreement. Dutch Fork Dev. Grp. II, LLC v. SEL Properties, LLC, 406 S.C. 596, 606, 753 S.E.2d 840, 845 (2012). "The operating agreement governs: (1) relations among the members as members and between the members and the limited liability company; (2) *the rights and duties of a person in the capacity of manager*; (3) the activities of the company and the conduct of those activities; and (4) the means and conditions for amending the operating agreement." *Id.* at 606, 753 S.E.2d at 845 fn. 6 (quoting 51 Am.Jur.2d *Limited Liability Companies* § 4 (2011)) (emphasis in original).

The circuit court held that the Respondent's claims are beyond the scope of the arbitration language in the Operating Agreement. The heart of the circuit court's analysis on this issues is the finding that "[Respondents'] claims do not turn upon the 'terms and conditions' of the Operating Agreement. (R. p. 12). The circuit court held that, if the parties had intended broad arbitration language to cover the claims asserted in this matter, they could have included a provision

requiring that “any and all disputes’ between them be arbitrated.” (R. p. 12). This analysis directly contradicts clear South Carolina law.

“The heavy presumption of arbitrability requires that[,] when the scope of the arbitration clause is open to question, a court must decide the question in favor of arbitration.” Wilson, 416 S.C. at 413, 786 S.E.2d at 580. Beyond the initial question of the existence of an enforceable agreement, discussed above, “[t]o decide whether an arbitration agreement encompasses a dispute, a court must determine whether the factual allegations underlying the claim are within the scope of the broad arbitration clause, regardless of the label assigned to the claim. Any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.” Zabinski at 597, 553 S.E.2d at 118 (internal citations omitted).

[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is **not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute**, arbitration should be ordered. A motion to compel arbitration made pursuant to an arbitration clause in a written contract should only be denied where the clause is not susceptible to **any interpretation** which would cover the asserted dispute.

Id. at 597, 553 S.E.2d at 118–19 (emphasis added).

The order denying arbitration acknowledged that “[t]his lawsuit arises from, among other things, the parties’ dispute over their relative membership interests[.]” (R. p. 8). While the liberal standard for enforcement of the arbitration clause requires consideration only of whether “the clause is not susceptible to any interpretation which would cover the asserted dispute”, Zabinski, *supra*, in this case it is difficult to conceive of any interpretation of the clause that would *not* encompass the Plaintiff’s claims.

a. The arbitration provision is susceptible to interpretation that would cover the asserted disputes

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