THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court Of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, Master-in-Equity

---

Case No.: 2016-CP-46-2458  
Appellate Case No.: 2016-002317

---

Lloyd C. (Chad) Whitmire ..... Respondent,

v.

Johnny C. (Carl) Hawkensen  
and The Commons at Fort Mill, LLC, ..... Appellants.

---

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

W. Keith Martens  
HAMILTON MARTENS, LLC  
P.O. Box 10940  
Rock Hill, South Carolina 29731  
(803) 329-7672  
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

OTHER COUNSEL OF RECORD:

H. Freeman Belser  
William C. Dillard Jr.  
Post Office Box 96  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 929-0096

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

As the circuit court recognized, "there is simply no arbitration agreement for the court to consider or enforce" in the Operating Agreement. (R. p. 12.) The circuit court's factual finding on that issue is "reasonably supported by the evidence." Its order denying Hawkensen's motion to compel arbitration must, therefore, be affirmed. York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc., 406 S.C. 67, 78, 749 S.E.2d 139, 144 (Ct. App. 2013)(citing Partain v. Upstate Auto Group, 386 S.C. 488, 491, 689 S.E.2d 602, 603 (2010)).

II. The circuit court properly held that a written notice printed at the top of the Company's Operating Agreement and stating "the terms and conditions of this operating argreement are subject to arbitration" was not a broadly-worded arbitration agreement requiring Whitmire to arbitrate his claims.

Hawkensen's motion to compel arbitration and his entire appeal are predicated on his mistaken assertion that the notice appearing at the top of the Company's Operating Agreement is a contractual agreement requiring arbitration of all disputes between the Company's members. Appellants' Brief at 13. The circuit court recognized the fallacy of Hawkensen's assertion, and refused to compel arbitration of Whitmire's claims. This court should affirm.

A. *The trial court properly concluded that South Carolina law requires both a written agreement to arbitrate and a statutorily-prescribed notice before a party may require arbitration of disputes.*

As the circuit court recognized, “a party seeking to compel arbitration . . . has the initial burden of ‘showing an agreement described in § 15-48-10 . . .’ has been entered into by the parties.” (R. p. 11) (citing S.C. Code Ann. §15-48-20 (Law. Co-op. 2017)).

In turn, § 15-48-10 describes that agreement as “[a] written agreement to submit any existing controversy to arbitration or a provision in a written contract to submit to arbitration any controversy thereafter arising between the parties. . . .” § 15-48-10(a). [Section] 15-48-10 further provides that, in order for the parties’ arbitration agreement to be enforceable under state law, “notice that a contract is subject to arbitration” must be “typed in underlined capital letters or rubber-stamped prominently on the first page of the contract.”

Id. “By its express terms, § 15-48-10 requires both an ‘agreement’ to arbitrate and a ‘notice’ that the parties’ agreement is subject to arbitration.” Id.

The trial court’s reading of South Carolina’s Arbitration Act is entirely consistent with the language of the Act and with well-established principles of statutory construction. Where a statute’s language is “plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning” courts have “no right to impose another meaning.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). Furthermore, courts must presume that “the legislature . . . fully understood the meaning of the words used in a statute and, unless this meaning is vague or indefinite, intended to use them in their ordinary and common meaning or in their well-defined legal sense.” Pee v. AVM, Inc., 344 S.C. 162, 168, 543 S.E.2d 232, 235 (Ct. App. 2001). As “plainly and unambiguously” prescribed by the legislature, South Carolina’s Arbitration Act requires that a party seeking to compel arbitration must initially “show” that the parties have included “a provision in a written contract” whereby they agreed to “to submit to arbitration any controversy thereafter arising between the parties.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-10 and -20 (Law. Co-op.

2017). The Act also imposes a separate, and distinct, requirement that “notice that [the] contract is subject to arbitration” must be “typed in underlined capital letters or rubber-stamped prominently on the first page of the contract.” S.C. Code §15-48-10 (Law. Co-op. 2017).

There is no doubt that the phrase “THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS OPERATING AGREEMENT ARE SUBJECT BINDING ARBITRATION” was an attempt by the Operating Agreement’s drafter to satisfy South Carolina’s statutory requirement for *notice*. The statement appears in underlined capital letters, and it is prominently displayed on page one of the Operating Agreement, all as mandated by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10. It is not, however, a “provision in a written contract to submit to arbitration any controversy thereafter arising between the parties.” The trial court properly concluded that, by its plain language, § 15-48-10 requires “both an ‘agreement’ . . . and a ‘notice’...” (R. p. 11). While a “notice” appears at the top of the Operating Agreement, the Operating Agreement does not contain any provision whereby Hawkensen and Whitmire agreed to “submit any controversy thereafter arising between the parties” to arbitration. S.C. Code Ann. §15-48-10

*B. Even if the notice appearing at the top of the Company’s Operating Agreement were construed as the members’ written agreement to arbitrate some of their disputes, the trial court properly determined that the notice was not sufficiently broad to require arbitration of Whitmire’s claims.*

Even if this court were to disregard the plain language of § 15-48-10<sup>4</sup> and the plain language of the Operating Agreement,<sup>5</sup> and even if it were to consider the notice appearing at the top of the Company’s Operating Agreement as both a “notice” and an “agreement” by the members to arbitrate some class of disputes, the circuit court’s order still must be affirmed. As

---

<sup>4</sup> See Respondent’s Argument II A., supra.

<sup>5</sup> See Respondent’s Argument I, supra.

the circuit court recognized, the parties' purported "arbitration agreement" (the notice appearing above the Operating Agreement's title) is not a broad agreement requiring arbitration of all of the members' disputes. Rather, it is narrowly-drawn statement, intended to draw attention that the "terms and conditions" of the Operating Agreement are subject to arbitration. (R. p. 12). But, none of Whitmire's claims seek enforcement or interpretation of the "terms and conditions" of the Operating Agreement.<sup>6</sup> Id. Consequently, none of those claims could be compelled to arbitration, even if the notice appearing at the top of the Operating Agreement were also an agreement between the Company's members to arbitrate their disputes. Id. Because arbitration rests upon the parties' contractual agreement, "the range of issues that can be arbitrated is restricted by the terms of the agreement. A party cannot be compelled to arbitrate a particular dispute unless his agreement expressly encompasses the subject matter of the dispute." Simmons v. Lucas & Stubbs Assocs., Ltd., 283 S.C. 326, 322 S.E.2d 467 (Ct. App. 1984)(internal citations omitted).

Hawkensen overlooks the limited scope of the printed notice, repeatedly (and erroneously) labeling it a "broad" arbitration agreement. Appellants' Brief at 13, 20. However, the notice is neither an agreement to arbitrate nor is it broad in scope. As the circuit court recognized, the Company's members could have included a provision in the Operating Agreement whereby they agreed that "any and all disputes" between the members must be arbitrated. They did not. The notice appearing at the top of the Operating Agreement states only that the "terms and conditions of this operating agreement are subject to arbitration." *See R. p. 12.*

---

<sup>6</sup> Hawkensen even sought to compel arbitration of claims that are based entirely upon the parties' prior business dealings and entities. Those claims have no colorable connection to the "terms and conditions" of the Operating Agreement. (R. pp. 25-26, ¶¶ 56-69).

The Operating Agreement's narrowly-drawn notice stands in stark contrast to the broadly-worded agreements interpreted in much of Hawkensen's cited authority.<sup>7</sup> Hawkensen places far too much reliance on a line of cases that have interpreted and enforced what those courts recognized as "very broad" arbitration agreements. The purported "agreement" in this case, the notice printed at the top of the Operating Agreement, is not broad at all. In fact, the circuit court found it to be narrow in scope – contemplating arbitration only of the "terms and conditions" of the Operating Agreement. (R. p 12). That factual finding is reasonably supported by the evidence, and it cannot be reversed on appeal. Gissel v. Hart, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). A notice that the "terms and conditions" of an LLC's operating agreement are subject to arbitration is not the equivalent of an agreement between the company's members to arbitrate all of their disputes.

Even in those cases interpreting or enforcing broad arbitration agreements, the courts have not elevated such agreements to "super-contractual" status. Those courts have, instead, echoed the oft-repeated refrain that "[a]rbitration rests on the agreement of the parties, and the range of issues that can be arbitrated is restricted by the terms of the agreement." *E.g.*, Wilson v. Willis, 416 S.C.395, 409, 786 S.E.2d 571, 578 (Ct. App. 2016)(quoting Chassereau v. Glob.-Sun Pools, Inc., 363 S.C.628, 632, 611 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 2005)(in turn, quoting Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc., 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001))). Fundamentally, those

---

<sup>7</sup> Compare Operating Agreements to notice the text of the arbitration agreements interpreted in the following cases:

- (a) Landers v. Federal Deposit Ins. Grp., 402 S.C. 100, 739 S.E.2d 209 (2013);
- (b) Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc., 346 S.C. 580, 553 S.E.2d 110 (2001);
- (c) Wilson v. Willis, 416 S.C. 395, 786 S.E.2d 571 (Ct. App. 2016);
- (d) York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc., 406 S.C. 67, 749 S.E.2d 139 (Ct. App. 2013);
- (e) Partain v. Upstate Auto. Grp., 386 S.C. 488, 689 S.E.2d 602 (2010);
- (f) The Housing Auth. of City of Columbia v. Cornerstone Hous., LLC, 356 S.C. 328, 588 S.E.2d 617 (Ct. App. 2003).

cases have all turned upon well-established principles of contract interpretation – nothing more. As the Zabinski Court (among others) recognized, “Arbitration is a matter of contract, and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit.” 346 S.C. at 596–97, 553 S.E.2d at 118 (internal citations omitted). When parties have entered contractual agreements to arbitrate (for example) “any dispute or disagreement aris[ing] in connection with the interpretation of this Agreement, its performance or nonperformance, its termination, the figures or calculations used or any nonpayment of accounts,”<sup>8</sup> the courts have recognized the breadth of those agreements and have required the parties to honor them.

In this case, Whitmire and Hawkensen never executed an agreement whereby they agreed to arbitrate “all disputes” between them, or even all disputes arising from their membership in the Company. It would defy both logic and “general contract principles of state law”<sup>9</sup> to foist that obligation upon Whitmire when he never so agreed. The trial court correctly found that the Operating Agreement does not contain a provision requiring Whitmire to arbitrate his claims. That determination is factually and legally sound, and it should be affirmed.

III. Even under the Federal Arbitration Act, Hawkensen failed to show the existence of an “agreement for arbitration” and the circuit court, therefore, properly refused to compel arbitration.

On appeal, Hawkensen also argues that the circuit court erred in determining that the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) does not apply to the Company’s Operating Agreement. Legally, and factually, Hawkensen is incorrect. *See* R. p. 10. (“Per the terms of the Operating Agreement, the Company is a ‘single purpose real estate holding entity.’ Its only purpose is to own and operate an apartment complex . . . in Fort Mill, South Carolina.”). *See also* Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc., 398 S.C. 447, 456, 730 S.E.2d 312, 317 (2010)(“development of real

---

<sup>8</sup> Wilson v. Willis, 416 S.C. 395, 414, 786 S.E.2d 571, 580 (Ct. App. 2016)

<sup>9</sup> Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001).

estate is an inherently intrastate transaction.”); Zabinski, 346 S.C. at 595, 553 S.E.2d at 117-18 (“the development of land within South Carolina borders is the quintessential example of a purely intrastate activity.”). Practically, though, the circuit court’s determination that the FAA does not apply is of no real consequence.

While both the FAA and the South Carolina Arbitration Act express a consistent policy favoring arbitration of disputes, neither the FAA nor South Carolina’s Arbitration Act requires a party “to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit.” United Steelworkers v. Warrior & Gulf Nav. Co., 363 U.S. 574, 582 (1960)(interpreting FAA); Volt Information Sciences, Inc. v. Board of Trustees, 489 U.S. 468, 479 (1989)(FAA - “arbitration is a matter of consent, not coercion.”); Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 24, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007)(South Carolina Arbitration Act – “[A]rbitration is a matter of contract law and is available only when the parties involved contractually agreed to arbitrate.”). Aside from the “notice” requirement of S.C. Code Ann. §15-48-10, South Carolina’s courts have interpreted and enforced the FAA and South Carolina Arbitration Act in a very similar manner. Both the state and federal arbitration acts “require[] courts to enforce privately negotiated agreements to arbitrate, like other contracts, in accordance with their terms.” Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc., 346 S.C. 580, 592, 553 S.E.2d 110, 116 (2001)(quoting Volt, 489 U.S. at 478).<sup>10</sup> Even under the FAA, courts interpreting an arbitration agreement are guided by “general contract principles of state law.” Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001).

---

<sup>10</sup> Of course, where a contract “evidencing a transaction involving interstate commerce” (9 U.S.C. § 2) contains an arbitration agreement, the FAA will preempt any conflicting state law that “completely invalidates the parties’ agreement to arbitrate.” Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538 n.2, 542 S.E.2d 360 n.2 (2001).

Nothing in the circuit court's consideration of Hawkensen's motion hinges upon a conflict between state and federal arbitration law. The circuit court determined, and properly so, that the parties had not entered an enforceable agreement to submit their dispute to arbitration. Neither the Federal Arbitration Act nor the South Carolina Arbitration Act would permit the court to enforce a non-existent agreement. Neither the FAA nor South Carolina's Arbitration Act would require Whitmire to arbitrate claims that he never agreed to arbitrate. Volt, 489 U.S. 468 at 479 (FAA); Simpson, 373 S.C. at 24, 644 S.E.2d at 668 (South Carolina Arbitration Act).

The circuit court properly concluded that, because the Operating Agreement was not a contract "evidencing a transaction in interstate commerce," the FAA does not apply. In any regard, Hawkensen has failed to demonstrate that his motion would have been decided differently under the FAA. He has shown no prejudice by the court's supposed error. At worst, the circuit court's determination that the FAA does not apply is harmless error. Judy v. Judy, 384 S.C. 634, 646, 682 S.E.2d 836, 842 (Ct. App. 2009)(error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the outcome below).

IV. This court should decline to consider Hawkensen's appeal from the circuit court's order denying Whitmire's motion for preliminary relief, because that order was favorable to Hawkensen, because Hawkensen consented to the only "relief" granted by that order, and because Hawkensen was not "aggrieved" by entry of the order.

In addition to challenging the circuit court's order that denied Hawkensen's motion to compel arbitration, Hawkensen has appealed an order denying *Whitmire's* motions for preliminary statutory and equitable relief. (R. p. 1). As Hawkensen makes clear in his brief, his appeal from that order is really a "belt and suspenders" argument. *See* Appellant's Brief at 26 ("Appellants do not want to have waived their objection to the circuit court's assertion of jurisdiction [by failing to assert it]."). Hawkensen's entire argument is predicated upon, and

intertwined with, his erroneous argument that the circuit court was required to compel arbitration, even in the absence of an enforceable arbitration provision. Presumably, Hawkensen does not object to the substance of the circuit court's ruling.<sup>11</sup> Rather, he objects that the court considered the motion.

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